STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

C. Victor Pyle, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL

CS

RECEIVED

AUG 19 2013

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JULIAN DEANDRE BATTLE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2011-203746

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial court erred by failing to charge involuntary manslaughter because appellant testified that he struggled with the decedent over the weapon?

2.

Whether the trial court erred by charging the jury that it should consider evidence of flight in determining appellant's guilt?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 22, 2010, Julian De'Andre Battle ("Battle") was indicted for murder and a related weapons charge. On September 12 – 14, 2011, Battle was tried in Greenville County before the Honorable C. Victor Pyle and a jury. R. 443. Daniel Eller represented Battle. R. 443. Howard Steinberg represented the State. R. 443. Judge Pyle declared a mistrial because the jurors could not reach a unanimous decision. R. 443, 458, ll. 10 – 25.

On November 17 – 19, 2011, Battle was tried again before Judge Pyle. R. 1. The same attorneys tried the case. R. 1. The jury convicted Battle of murder and the weapons charge. R. 437, ll. 16 – 24. Judge Pyle sentenced Battle to life imprisonment for murder and five years' imprisonment on the weapons charge. R. 442, ll. 11 – 17. On November 22, 2011, Battle filed a Notice of Appeal. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court erred by failing to charge involuntary manslaughter because appellant testified that he struggled with the decedent over the weapon.

Relevant Facts

On Christmas Eve 2009, Rafael Dodd (“Dodd”) was killed after intervening in an argument between his cousin and her boyfriend. R. 99, ll. 17 – 18; R. 102, ll. 18 – 25. Dodd’s cousin was Mikeya Shumate (“Shumate”). R. 99, ll. 17 – 18. Shumate was dating Dupri Owens (“Owens”). R. 100, ll. 12 – 14 Battle and Owens are cousins. R. 315, ll. 2 – 3. Shumate, Owens, Battle and another woman, Shameka Wells (“Wells”) had been at Wells’ apartment and were returning after a trip to Shumate’s relatives’ house because the girls wanted to buy marijuana. R. 101, ll. 16 – 24; R. 315, ll. 17 - 24. Dodd and another of his cousins, Jamaal Stewart (“Stewart”) had been with the other four at Shumate’s relatives’ house and returned with them to Wells’ apartment. R. 101, l. 21 – 102, l. 5. Dodd and Battle had never met before this evening. R. 113, ll. 12 – 21.

Shumate and Owens began arguing outside of Wells’ apartment. R. 102, ll. 3 – 25. Owens was upset that Dodd and Stewart were joining them. R. 102, ll. 18 – 23. Battle remained outside with Owens and Shumate while the rest of the group went inside. R. 102, ll. 3 – 5. Battle tried to calm Owens down and tried to convince him to leave. R. 321, ll. 15 – 20.

Stewart came outside and began “cussing out” Owens. R. 321, ll. 21 – 25. Stewart, Owens, and Shumate’s argument became intense and Battle thought Owens and Stewart

were going to fight. R. 322, ll. 11 – 16. Battle continued to try to persuade Owens to leave. R. 322, ll. 13 – 16. Owens had the keys to Battle's car. R. 322, ll. 16 – 17.

At this point, Dodd came outside. R. 322, ll. 16 – 17. Dodd went straight to Battle and, as Battle testified, "He asked me who the hell was I, you know, where are we from and who are we supposed to [be]. He was telling me he was from Tennessee and he could kill me and my cousin and get away with it." R. 325, ll. 1 – 4. Battle described Dodd as "Very hostile, upset, mad." R. 325, ll. 5 – 7. Dodd also told Battle that he "must be the man with all the money." R. 325, ll. 17 – 20. Battle thought this meant Dodd intended to rob him. R. 325, l. 24 – 326, l. 7. Unknown to Battle, Dodd had a concealed weapons permit, was wearing a holster, and had a gun. R. 220, ll. 17 – 20; R. 232 ll. 19 – 22; R. 1957, l. 22 – 196, l. 1.

Dodd got into Battle's face and began pushing Battle. R. 326, ll. 8 – 15. Battle "told him to keep his hands off of me." R. 326, ll. 13 – 14. Dodd then pulled out a gun. R. 326, ll. 16 – 17. Battle described the ensuing struggle:

Q. When Mr. Dodd pulled out the gun, what did you do?

A. I grabbed his right hand and I twisted his other hand.

Q. Why did you grab his right hand?

A. Because that's the hand that he had his gun in.

Q. Why were you trying to grab the gun?

A. I was trying to get it away from me. I was trying to get it away from his face and it was pointed towards me and my cousin.

Q. What happened after you tried to grab the gun?

A. I twisted and the gun went off.

Q. Did you intend to pull the trigger to that gun.

A. No, I did.¹

Q. Did you intend for that gun to go off?

A. No, I didn't.

Q. Did you intend to shoot Mr. Dodd?

A. No, I didn't.

Q. After the gun went off, what happened next?

A. I would like to go to before the gun actually went off. When I twisted the gun, Mr. Dodd was pulling back trying to take the gun back. He was trying to pull his arm back and that's when the gun actually went off so I wasn't sure if his hand or my hand or his finger or my finger actually pulled the trigger. I know I did not intend to do it.

Q. Were you all wrestling over this gun?

A. Yes, we was.

R. 326, l. 18 – 327, l. 20. Dodd fell over a railing to the ground and the gun fell with him.

R. 327, l. 21 – 328, l. 7. While Battle and Owens were fleeing the scene, Wells testified Dodd picked up the gun and aimed it at Owens. R. 44, ll. 7 – 23. Dodd died from his wound before he could fire. R. 14, ll. 12 – 16.

Prior to closing arguments, Battle requested that the trial court charge the jury on involuntary manslaughter. R. 372, l. 3 – 374, l. 6. Battle's attorney argued there was "ample evidence that there was a struggle over the gun." R. 373, ll. 24 – 25. He further stated, "All the other testimony in evidence is that there was a struggle over that weapon and it's clear that there was a struggle and therefore he's entitled to a charge on involuntary." R. 374, ll. 3 – 6. Judge Pyle denied Battle's request. R. 374, ll. 7 – 8. After the charge, Battle

renewed his request that Judge Pyle charge involuntary manslaughter, which was denied. R. 429, l. 23 – 472, l. 9. During deliberations, the jury asked to be charged again on murder, voluntary manslaughter, accident, and self-defense. R. 431, l. 2 – 432, l. 8.

Discussion

Battle's testimony concerning the struggle over the weapon required the trial judge to charge involuntary manslaughter. Evidence of a struggle over a weapon between a defendant and victim supports submission of an involuntary manslaughter charge. Tisdale v. State, 378 S.C. 122, 125, 662 S.E.2d 410, 412 (2008); Casey v. State, 305 S.C. 445, 447, 409 S.E.2d 391, 392 (1991).

The law to be charged is determined from the evidence presented at trial. State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001). Reversible error is committed if the trial court fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993). Moreover, when determining whether the evidence requires a charge on a lesser included offense, the court views the facts in the light most favorable to the defendant. See Knoten, 347 S.C. at 302, 555 S.E.2d at 394 (requiring the trial court to view facts in the light most favorable to a defendant when determining whether to charge involuntary manslaughter).

¹ Battle's answer almost certainly was "No, I didn't," as is apparent from Battle's subsequent testimony. The trial transcript contains numerous typographical errors.

“Importantly, our courts have long emphasized that to warrant a court’s eliminating the offense of manslaughter, it should very clearly appear that there is no evidence whatsoever tending to reduce the crime from murder to manslaughter.” State v. Brayboy, 387 S.C. 174, 180, 691 S.E.2d 482, 486 (Ct. App. 2010); see also State v. Cole, 338 S.C. 97, 101, 525 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2000); State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 265, 513 S.E.2d 104, 109 (1999). Thus, a request to charge a lesser-included offense is properly refused only when there is no evidence that the defendant committed the lesser rather than the greater offense. Casey, 305 S.C. at 447, 409 S.E.2d at 392.

Involuntary manslaughter is the unintentional killing of another without malice, but while engaged in an unlawful activity not naturally tending to cause death or great bodily harm; or (2) the unintentional killing of another without malice, while engaged in a lawful activity with reckless disregard for the safety of others. State v. Crosby, 355 S.C. 47, 51-2, 584 S.E.2d 110, 112 (2003); Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 265, 513 S.E.2d 104, 109 (1999).

State v. Light, 378 S.C. 641, 648, 664 S.E.2d 465, 468 (2008) is particularly instructive. In Light, the defendant gave inconsistent versions of the victim’s death, but repeatedly maintained that the gun unintentionally discharged after a struggle. Despite expert testimony contradicting the defendant’s story, the Supreme Court ruled that defendant’s testimony, by itself, was sufficient to require an involuntary manslaughter charge. Id. at 648-49, 664 S.E.2d at 469. The Court stated, “[T]he fact petitioner and [the victim] were struggling over the weapon is sufficient evidence to support an involuntary manslaughter charge to the jury. Id.

Just as in Light, Battle testified that he and Dodd struggled over the gun. Therefore, Battle was entitled to an involuntary manslaughter charge. Undoubtedly, the State will point to evidence in the record that Dodd's gun was not the weapon that killed him. R. 243, ll. 12 – 24. The State attempted to prove that Battle must have had his own gun, but none of the witnesses saw any gun other than Dodd's. R. 40, ll. 15 – 16 (Wells); R. 83, ll. 6 – 7 (Stewart); R. 123, ll. 8 – 10 (Shumate); R. 164, l. 14 – 165, l. 22 (Owens). Such evidence is irrelevant to the question of whether to charge a lesser-included offense. An involuntary manslaughter charge must be given if there is any evidence supporting it. Casey, 305 S.C. at 447, 409 S.E.2d at 392. Battle's testimony satisfies this test and the trial judge erred in not letting the jury decide this issue.

Furthermore, in Light, the court charged the jury on murder, voluntary manslaughter, and accident. Id. at 646, 664 S.E.2d at 468. The charges in Battle's case are identical, with the addition of self-defense.² The murder, voluntary manslaughter, accident, and self-defense charges given by the trial court did not cure its refusal to charge involuntary manslaughter. This failure constitutes reversible error and requires this Court to grant Battle a new trial.

2.

The trial court erred by charging the jury that it should consider evidence of flight in determining appellant's guilt.

Relevant Facts

The State presented evidence that Battle fled from the scene, which Battle admitted. The State also presented evidence that after being contacted by the police and told there was

a warrant for his arrest, Battle initially told them he would turn himself in, but did not immediately do so. R. 181, l. 5 – 182, l. 14. In the first trial, Judge Pyle did not charge the jury concerning any inference to be drawn from a defendant's flight. R. 444, l. 21 – 456, l.

8. In the second trial, Judge Pyle added the following to his charge:

I charge you, ladies and gentlemen, that voluntary flight of a person either there or soon after the commission of a crime, is a circumstance not sufficient in itself to establish guilt but is a circumstance that you the jury may consider in connection with all the other evidence in determining the guilt or innocence of a person.

R. 422, ll. 16 – 22. Battle's attorney objected after Judge Pyle completed his charge, stating:

Your Honor, first I would object to the term voluntary. If you're only going to charge on manslaughter, there's no reason to confuse the jury. **Secondly, I believe your charge did say they're not supposed to consider that as guilt but it is something they can consider as far as flight evidence.** And third, Your Honor, I would just renew our prior objection request to include involuntary manslaughter as a charge to the jury.

R. 429, l. 23 – 430, l. 6 (emphasis added). Judge Pyle immediately overruled Battle's objection, stating, "I will decline any further charges." R. 430, ll. 7 – 8.

Discussion

The trial judge's charge on flight constitutes reversible error. Since 1980, the law of South Carolina has been that charging the jury on flight is inappropriate. State v. Grant, 275 S.C. 404, 408, 272 S.E.2d 169, 171 (1980). "The charge on flight oftentimes has the potential for creating more problems than solutions." Id. "[T]he 'law of flight' in a judge's charge places undue emphasis upon that part of circumstantial evidence and it should not be charged hereafter." Id. As Judge Pyle's charge on flight directly contravenes Grant, it constitutes error.

² Light also held that self-defense should have been charged. Id. at 651, 664 S.E.2d at 470.

In this close case where there was evidence of self-defense, accident, and manslaughter, the charge on flight was not harmless. The solicitor repeatedly argued that Battle was guilty merely because he fled. The solicitor told the jury, "Mr. Battle admits to police and the old saying is a guilty man runs when no man pursues him. Mr. Battle is not innocent. He flees, he runs, he goes and he hides yet he still says he's not guilty in this case." R. 409, ll. 13 – 17. The solicitor also argued, "He is a flight from justice. I hope nobody in this room believes that he was really wanting to turn himself in at these various places and he just didn't get around to it. He was a flight from justice, a flight from the consequences of his actions." R. 410, ll. 3 – 7.

While the law allows the solicitor to make these arguments, it does not allow the trial judge to emphasize them to the jury. Judge Pyle's charge on flight amounted to a comment on the evidence and unfairly legitimized the inferences drawn by the solicitor in his closing argument. This error prejudiced Battle and requires reversal. The Court should use this opportunity to reaffirm the holding in Grant as a reminder that flight still should not be charged in this State.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should reverse Battle's convictions and grant him a new trial.