10

ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
The Honorable C. Victor Pyle, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appeal Case No. 2011-203746

RECEIVED
AUG 19 2013
SC COURT OF APPEALS

THE STATE

RESPONDENT,

V.

JULIAN DEANDRE BATTLE,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. MCINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ALPHONSO SIMON JR.
Assistant Attorney General
South Carolina Attorney General's Office
PO Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6307

WILLIAM W. WILKINS III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Circuit
Greenville County Courthouse
305 East North Street, Suite 325

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

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR AN INVOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER CHARGE; THE WEAPON OVER WHICH APPELLANT AND THE VICTIM STRUGGLED WAS NOT THE MURDER WEAPON.

Standard of Review

"An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion." State v. Williams, 367 S.C. 192, 195, 624 S.E.2d 443, 445 (Ct.App.2005) (quoting Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000)). Furthermore, "[t]o warrant reversal, a trial court's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant." State v. Patterson, 367 S.C. 219, 232, 625 S.E.2d 239, 245 (Ct. App. 2006). "The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial." Id. If there is any evidence to support the requested charge, the trial court should grant the request. Williams, at 195, 624 S.E.2d at 445. The evidence must be reviewed in the light most favorable to appellant. State v. Cottrell, 376 S.C. 260, 262, 657 S.E.2d 451, 452 (2008).

The presence of evidence to sustain a conviction for the crime of a lesser degree determines whether it should be submitted to the jury. State v. Rucker, 319 S.C. 95, 98, 459 S.E.2d 858, 860 (Ct. App. 1995) (citing State v. Funchess, 267 S.C. 427, 229 S.E.2d 331 (1976)); State v. Linder, 276 S.C. 304, 278 S.E.2d 335 (1981). Due process requires that a lesser included offense be charged when the evidence warrants it but only if the evidence would permit a jury rationally to find the defendant guilty of the lesser offense. State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 233, 522 S.E.2d 845, 854 (Ct. App. 1999). It is not error to refuse

to charge the lesser included offense unless there is evidence tending to show that the defendant was guilty only of the lesser offense. State v. Geiger, 370 S.C. 600, 607, 635 S.E.2d 669, 673 (Ct. App. 2006) (citing State v. Tyndall, 336 S.C. 8, 518 S.E.2d 278 (Ct. App. 1999); State v. Thompson, 278 S.C. 1, 292 S.E.2d 581 (1982); State v. Mickle, 273 S.C. 71, 254 S.E.2d 295 (1979).

How the Issue Arose at Trial

After the defense rested, there was a jury charge conference. (See R. p. 372). During that conference, the State objected to the inclusion of an involuntary manslaughter charge. (R. p. 372). The trial court requested argument from Appellant regarding whether to charge involuntary manslaughter. (R. p. 372). Appellant argued that involuntary manslaughter would be an appropriate charge in his case. (R. p. 372).

Your Honor, the case is Casey versus State and there is also the case of State versus Light which is a 2005 decision. A charge of involuntary manslaughter will be probative if there's evidence of weapon discharge during a struggle between the victim and the defendant. And as a result of that State versus light case, 363 SC 325, it's a citation, there's been evidence of a struggle over the weapon between the victim and the defendant, Mr. Battle is entitled to an involuntary manslaughter charge.

(R. p. 372, l 17- p. 373, l 1). In response, the State contended the evidence did not fit an involuntary manslaughter charge. It noted that there was not a true struggle because, under Appellant's theory, he was able to point the weapon back towards the victim. (R. p. 373). The State contended that Appellant's actions under his testimony would constitute pointing and presenting a firearm, and it would not fit within an involuntary manslaughter framework. (R. p. 373).

This is not a case where a gun is on the ground, as some of the cases have shown, and you were to jump for a gun at the same time and the gun were to go off, that's one case. But when you have this case scenario where he pointed the gun back at him because I thought that he was going to killed me, there's other cases, but I don't have them in front of me, it was either self-defense or murder or voluntary manslaughter.

(R. p. 373, ll 14-21). Appellant responded by noting that

[n]one of the State's witnesses presented testimony that they saw any gun period. The only gun that was produced is actually in evidence. All the other testimony in evidence is that there was a struggle over that weapon and it's clear that there was a struggle and therefore he's entitled to a charge on involuntary.

(R. p. 373, l 25 – p. 374, l 6).

Ultimately, the trial court disagreed and decided not to choose involuntary manslaughter. (R. p. 374).

Relevant Facts and Argument

A. Appellant was not entitled to an involuntary manslaughter charge because there was no evidence presented at trial that the victim was killed by the weapon over which Appellant and the victim allegedly struggled.

Involuntary manslaughter is the killing of another without malice and unintentionally while engaged in either: (1) an unlawful act not amounting to a felony and not naturally tending to cause death or great bodily harm; or (2) a lawful act with reckless disregard for the safety of others. State v. Reese, 370 S.C. 31, 36, 633 S.E.2d 898, 900 (2006). To constitute involuntary manslaughter, there must be a finding of criminal negligence. State v. Wigginton, 375 S.C. 25, 35, 649 S.E.2d 185, 190 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing State v. Crosby, 355 S.C. 47, 51-2, 584 S.E.2d 110, 112 (2003)). Criminal negligence for involuntary manslaughter is statutorily defined as “the reckless disregard of the safety of

others.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-60 (2007). “Recklessness is a state of mind in which the actor is aware of his or her conduct, yet consciously disregards a risk which his or her conduct is creating.” State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 571, 647 S.E.2d 144, 167 (2007).

“A trial court should refuse to charge a lesser-included offense only where there is no evidence the defendant committed the lesser rather than the greater offense.” Crosby, 355 S.C. at 51, 584 S.E.2d at 112. Evidence of a struggle between the defendant and the victim over a weapon supports submission of an involuntary manslaughter charge. Tisdale v. State, 378 S.C. 122, 125, 662 S.E.2d 410, 412 (2008); Casey v. State, 305 S.C. 445, 447, 409 S.E.2d 391, 392 (1991).

Appellant here claims that he was entitled to an involuntary manslaughter charge because he testified that he and the victim struggled over a weapon, and the victim died as a result. Respondent submits this argument is without merit.

First, there was no testimony or evidence establishing that the victim died as a result of a gunshot from his own weapon. To the contrary, the physical evidence indicated that the victim’s gun was not fired the night of the shooting.

Iona Ooten, the forensics officer who recovered the victim’s gun from the scene, testified that when she secured the pistol for transport, she removed an unfired cartridge from the chamber of the gun. (R. p. 197). She also removed the magazine from the firearm, and subsequently removed the unfired cartridges that were in the magazine. (R. p. 198). Ooten indicated there were six unfired cartridges in the magazine. (R. p. 199). James Armstrong, a criminalist for the

Greenville County Department of Public Safety who was qualified as an expert in firearms examination and ballistics at trial, testified that the maximum capacity for the victim's gun was seven cartridges, six in the magazine and one in the chamber. (R. pp. 269-70, 273, 274).

Furthermore, none of the eyewitnesses to the confrontation testified that they saw the victim's gun fire during the shooting. In fact, the other eyewitnesses' testimony indicated they were unaware that either Appellant or the victim had firearms until after they heard the gunshot. Stewart testified that when the shooting occurred, he did not see the weapon from which the shot was fired. (R. pp. 59, 83, 94). Wells also did not see the shot fired. (R. p. 12). She heard the shot, and her immediate response was to duck down until it appeared safe to head outside. (R. p. 12). She did not see the victim's weapon until she saw the victim raise it and point it at Appellant and Owens while the victim was on the ground. (R. pp. 14-15, 44). She noted during cross-examination that she did not see anyone holding a gun. (R. p. 40). Shumate testified that she heard the shot, but she did not see the gun or anyone pull the trigger. (R. pp. 106, 123). Owens also indicated that he did not see gunshot fired because the shooting was behind him. (R. p. 142). Further, Owens testified that Appellant did not say anything about the victim pulling out a gun when they were driving away from the scene. (R. p. 145).

Even Appellant's testimony does not support a finding that the victim was shot by his own firearm. Appellant claimed he never actually grabbed the gun; instead, he grabbed the victim's hand and twisted it towards him. (R. p. 346).

He maintained that he could not say for sure that he touched the trigger of the gun. (R. p. 346). Appellant also stated that he never told an investigator that he shot the victim in the chest.⁸ (R. pp. 364, 366). Appellant maintained during his trial that he was not aware of where the victim's gun was pointed when it fired. (R. p. 364). The crux of Appellant's testimony and argument at trial was not that he fired the victim's gun; it was that if the victim died from his own gun, and if Appellant had any connection to the shot being fired, it was purely by accident. (See R. pp. 327, 346-47).

The lack of testimony and evidence establishing that the victim's gun was the weapon that killed the victim supports the trial court's denial of the request for the jury charge. Implicit in the cases that recognize a defendant is entitled to an involuntary manslaughter charge when there is a struggle over a weapon is that the weapon in the struggle was the one used in the homicide. For instance, in Tisdale, while there were two competing versions of how the shooting occurred, there was no contention that the weapon fired was the one that killed the victim. In Tisdale, Tisdale's co-defendant had testified that the Tisdale and the victim struggled over the victim's gun, and during the course of that confrontation, two shots were fired. Tisdale, 378 S.C. at 124, 662 S.E.2d at 411. The co-defendant noted that he was not sure who had the gun when the shots were fired, but the defendant had the gun afterwards. Id. The defendant in Tisdale alleged that he and the victim struggled over the victim's gun, the gun discharged, and the victim went still. Tisdale, 378 S.C. at 124, 662 S.E.2d at 412. Similarly, in Casey, there

⁸ He did tell Owens that the victim was shot with his own gun. (R. p. 366).

was a struggle over a shotgun, and the victim died from injuries that resulted from a gunshot apparently resulting from that struggle. Casey, 305 S.C. at 446, 409 S.E.2d at 391-92.

In State v. Light, the defendant was found to be lawfully armed in self-defense, and the struggle over the weapon was over the weapon that went off and killed the victim. Light, 378 S.C. 641, 648-49, 664 S.E.2d 465, 468-69 (2008). Similarly, in State v. Brayboy, this Court noted that in his statement, the defendant indicated that he and the victim initially struggled over the gun, the gun hit the floor, and both the defendant and victim both reached for the gun. Brayboy, 387 S.C. 174, 177-78, 691 S.E.2d 482, 484 (Ct. App. 2010). The defendant obtained the gun, and in his statement, he indicated that gun went off as he was swinging his arms while arguing with the victim. Id. at 178, 691 S.E.2d at 484. Again, the weapon over which the two struggled was the gun that ultimately killed the victim.

Appellant was not entitled to an involuntary manslaughter charge. Unlike those cases where a struggle over a weapon was enough for an involuntary manslaughter charge, the struggle in this case was not over the weapon that killed the victim. Thus, the struggle would not trigger the necessity of an involuntary manslaughter charge because Appellant's actions would not fit within either of the two scenarios where an involuntary manslaughter charge is warranted.

B. Appellant was not entitled to an involuntary manslaughter charge even if the victim's gun was the weapon that fired the fatal shot; under Appellant's version of events, Appellant's actions were not unlawful and he did not act with reckless disregard for the safety of others prior to the shooting.

Furthermore, assuming *arguendo* there was evidence the victim's gun was the weapon that killed him, Appellant was still not entitled to an involuntary manslaughter charge. First, Appellant could not show that he was engaged in an unlawful activity not amounting to a felony that would not naturally tend to lead to death. By his account, his actions in grabbing the victim's arm were in self-defense, and not an attack on the victim.

Second, Appellant could not show that he was engaged in a lawful activity with reckless disregard for the safety of others. According to Appellant's testimony he was not acting in reckless disregard for the safety of others. To the contrary, his testimony indicated that he was specifically attempting to protect himself and his cousin because, according to Appellant, the victim had the gun pointed in their direction before he grabbed the victim's arm. (R. pp. 326-27). Appellant never admitted that he pulled the trigger. (See R. pp. 326-28, 346). In fact, Appellant testified that he never actually grabbed the gun. (R. p. 346). Instead, he maintained that he only grabbed the victim's hand. (R. p. 346). In all, there was no evidence that Appellant negligently handled a loaded gun, indicating his actions were clearly distinguishable from cases like Brayboy, 387 S.C. at 180, 691 S.E.2d at 485; State v. Mekler, 379 S.C. 12, 664 S.E.2d 477 (2008); and Light, 378 S.C. at 648-49, 664 S.E.2d at 468-69. By his account, he never actually handled the gun.

Altogether, Respondent submits the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the request for an involuntary manslaughter charge. If Appellant's testimony was to be believed, he would have been entitled to a self-defense charge, which he received. However, nothing in his testimony reflected that he acted negligently or in reckless disregard for the safety of others. As a result, the denial of the charge was correct. This argument should be denied, and Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

II. APPELLANT'S ARGUMENT THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GIVING A JURY INSTRUCTION ON FLIGHT AS EVIDENCE OF GUILT IS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW; EVEN IF THE ARGUMENT WAS PRESERVED, ANY ERROR BY THE TRIAL COURT IN GIVING AN INSTRUCTION WAS HARMLESS.

How the issue arose at trial

During its charge of the jury, the trial court gave the following instruction:

I charge you, ladies and gentlemen, that voluntary flight of a person either there or soon after the commission of a crime, is a circumstance not sufficient in itself to establish guilt but is a circumstance that you the jury may consider in connection with all the other evidence in determining the guilt or innocence of a person.

(R. p. 422, ll 16-22).

After completing the charge, the trial court asked if there were any exceptions to the charge given. He initially asked the State for any objections.

(R. p. 429). After a brief discussion regarding whether during a supplemental instruction, the trial court should use the word "voluntary" when discussing manslaughter, the State requested the trial court instruct the jury that flight cannot be considered evidence of guilt.

I would ask for that and I would also ask that you reinstruct the jury as to – I believe Your Honor's instructions are correct but the Supreme Court said that there can't be any mention of flight being evidence of guilt in a jury charge and I would ask you to please say something along the lines of any evidence of flight should be something that you can consider if you feel necessary. I would not ask any other charge outside of that.

(R. p. 429, ll 14-22).

Appellant then responded as follows:

Your Honor, first I would object to the term voluntary. If you're only going to charge on manslaughter, there's no reason to confuse the jury. Secondly, **I believe your charge did say they're not**

supposed to consider that as guilt but it is something they can consider as far as flight evidence. And third, Your Honor, I would just renew our prior objection request to include involuntary manslaughter as a charge to the jury.

(R. p. 429, l 23 – p. 430, l 6). The trial court declined to give any further instructions.

Standard of Review

“An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion.” State v. Williams, 367 S.C. 192, 195, 624 S.E.2d 443, 445 (Ct.App.2005) (quoting Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the [trial] court's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.” State v. Miller, 397 S.C. 630, 635, 725 S.E.2d 724, 727 (Ct. App. 2012)(quoting State v. Garris, 394 S.C. 336, 344, 714 S.E.2d 888, 893 (Ct.App.2011)). “In general, the trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina.” Miller, 397 S.C. at 635, 725 S.E.2d at 727 (quoting Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 665, 594 S.E.2d 462, 472 (2004)). “To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.” Miller, 397 S.C. at 635, 725 S.E.2d at 727 (quoting State v. Brown, 362 S.C. 258, 262, 607 S.E.2d 93, 95 (Ct.App.2004)). “In reviewing jury charges for error, we must consider the [trial] court's jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial.” Miller, 397 S.C. at 635, 725 S.E.2d at 727 (quoting State v. Adkins, 353 S.C. 312, 318, 577 S.E.2d 460, 463 (Ct.App.2003)).

A. Appellant's argument is not preserved for appellate review.

Contrary to Appellant's assertions, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. Appellant did not object or take exception to the trial court's instruction regarding flight as evidence of guilt. Instead, Appellant attempted to refute the State's argument that the charge given was improper by asserting the trial court's instruction did not indicate the jury could consider flight as evidence of guilt.

"There are four basic requirements to preserving issues at trial for appellate review. The issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity." State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-13 (Ct. App. 2004)(quoting Jean Hofer Toal et al., Appellate Practice in South Carolina 57 (2d ed.2002)).

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003); Humbert v. State, 345 S.C. 332, 548 S.E.2d 862 (2001). A party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, but it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground. Dunbar, 356 S.C. at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 694; State v. Russell, 345 S.C. 128, 546 S.E.2d 202 (Ct.App.2001). A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal. State v. Prioleau, 345 S.C. 404, 548 S.E.2d 213 (2001); State v. Benton, 338 S.C. 151, 526 S.E.2d 228 (2000)(argued

one ground in support of circumstantial evidence charge at trial and another ground in support of the charge on appeal).

Here, Appellant failed to properly preserve this issue in two respects. First, Appellant did not object to the court's instruction. As already noted, Appellant instead attempted to argue that the instruction was proper because it instructed the jury not to consider flight evidence as evidence of guilt. Second, Appellant did not join in with the State's objection and argument that the instruction was improper and should be recharged. See, e.g., State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 123, 481 S.E.2d 118, 124 (1997) (issue not preserved where defendant did not join in co-defendant's objection). Since this issue is not preserved for review, it should be dismissed.

B. Any error by the trial court in giving this instruction was harmless.

“Errors, including erroneous jury instructions, are subject to harmless error analysis.” State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 611, 685 S.E.2d 802, 809 (2009) (citing Lowry v. State, 376 S.C. 499, 510–11, 657 S.E.2d 760, 766 (2008)).

The instruction that was given by the trial court regarding flight was arguably improper. In State v. Grant, 275 S.C. 404, 272 S.E.2d 169 (1980), the Supreme Court held it was in appropriate for trial courts to give a jury instruction regarding the law of flight evidence as evidence of guilt. While the instruction given in this case specifically avoided stating that flight constituted evidence of guilt, the fact there was an instruction on flight is arguably inconsistent with the Supreme Court's determination in Grant.

That being said, any error by the trial court in giving the instruction he gave was harmless. First, Respondent submits the instruction that was given minimized the significance of flight evidence as evidence of guilt. The instruction specifically noted that flight is not sufficient to establish guilt, but the jury could consider it with all of the other evidence in deciding guilt or innocence. This was not inconsistent with how evidence of flight can be considered by a jury. See Grant, 275 S.C. at 408, 272 S.E.2d at 171; see also State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208-09, 631 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2006); State v. Walker, 366 S.C. 643, 654-55, 623 S.E.2d 122, 127-28 (Ct.App.2005).

Second, there was overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt in this case. As noted in the argument to the first issue, there was no evidence the victim's gun was the one that killed the victim. There was testimony establishing Appellant carried his own pistol on other occasions. (R. pp. 176-77). There was no question that he was involved in a confrontation with the victim, the confrontation was heated, and the victim was killed during the confrontation. Also, Appellant's actions after the shooting supported a finding that he acted with malice in killing the victim. He prevented Stewart from calling 911 by either knocking away or taking his cellphone. (R. pp. 59-60, 90, 107-09, 328, 347). Several witnesses indicated he tried to downplay the gunshot by claiming it was only a flesh wound. (R. pp. 13, 45, 46, 60, 89-90, 107). Some of the testimony reflected that Appellant was emotionless and unapologetic about shooting the victim.⁹ (R. pp. 13, 45, 46, 60, 89-90, 107). Also, later after the shooting

⁹ Shumate testified that after the shooting,

Appellant told Owens to calm down, and Appellant twice said "I fucked up, just calm down." (R. p. 145, ll 8-9). Owens indicated that Appellant did not say anything about the victim pulling out a gun. (R. p. 145).

Altogether, there was more than sufficient evidence to support the murder conviction outside of the evidence of flight. As a result, any error by the court in giving an instruction on flight evidence was harmless. Appellant's convictions should therefore be affirmed.

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